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Each year hundreds of
volunteers give selflessly

of their time and talents to
St. Rose Dominican Hospitals.

Sister Michael Thomas-Watson calls Henderson Mayor Jim Gibson
* her years at St. Rose the most fruitful and Rod Davis celebrate at the
of her ministry. She is an advocate of 50th Anniversary of St. Rose.
St. Rose employees, patients and the
community's neediest members.
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FOREWORD

As we commemorate the 60th anniversary of our healthcare
ministry, we are called to reflect on our past. This book looks
back at the founding, growth and development of St. Rose
Dominican Hospitals. While it offers some historical highlights,
it does not aspire to be a comprehensive chronology.
Rather, it serves to celebrate stories that embody the
essence of a ministry of compassionate care founded
and fostered by our Adrian Dominican Sisters. By

preserving stories of our past, we strive to provide
encouragement and perspective for our future.
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This book was written with the help of
hundreds. It was made possible by the
recollections and writings of Sisters, staff
members, physicians, patients and benefactors,
as well as area reporters and public servants.
Special recognition must be given to the
following: the Sisters, for the annals they kept;
the hospital’s women’s committee, for the
oral and written histories they recorded
and collected; the hospital’s former women'’s
auxiliary for the albums and scrapbooks they
created; and the hospital’s 60th anniversary
committee, for coordinating the anniversary
celebrations. Your efforts on behalf of St. Rose’s
history are invaluable.

Lastly, St. Rose expresses its gratitude to all
those who have supported our hospitals,
whether through your profession, public service
or philanthropic spirit, for our story is your story.

“Without the factory and the hospital, there would not have been a city of Henderson. Once the war was over,
finding someone to buy and maintain the hospital was among the first and most important steps in keeping
the city alive. It wasn't just a few patients the Sisters cared for; they helped breathe life into an entire community.”

Joan McSweeney
Women's Committee Volunteer




Sisters are different flowers from the same garden. -author unknown

Our Adrian Dominican Sisters have been affectionately
referred to as “angels of mercy” and “visions in
white,” but who were the seven Sisters who set forth
a ministry of compassionate care in Southern Nevada
and who are the Adrian Dominicans today?

Adrian Dominicans are women of vision and timeless
values. They draw strength and purpose from God and
their rich past as members of the Order of Preachers,
which was founded by St. Dominic in the 13th century
in France. Dominic was born of wealthy Spanish nobility,
however, he embraced a life of poverty, contemplative
prayer, preaching the truth of God's word and

ministering to those on the margins of society.

Many women were drawn to Dominic’s message and
a life of devotion to God. Thus, he formed the first
monastery of contemplative nuns in Prouille, France,
in 1206. Some 647 years later, in 1853, a group of
Dominican Sisters from Germany traveled to New York
to tend to the needs of Catholics who immigrated to
the United States. In 1879, six Sisters traveled from
New York to Adrian, Michigan, to open and operate

St. Joseph's hospital. The Adrian Dominicans were
well educated women who continued to expand
their mission to encompass schools, universities and
additional hospitals.

Much has changed in the sixty years since the Sisters
founded St. Rose. Though these women religious were
rightly called “pioneers,” they lived rather sheltered
lives of obedience which revolved around the
convent, the Church and their ministry assignments.
Social interaction with the public was somewhat limited.

The Catholic Church went through a time of renewal
in the 1960s and 1970s as it sought to be more relevant
and respondent to the issues of the time. Pope John
XXIIl described it as “throwing open the windows of
the Church, so that we can see out and the people
can see in.”

The revitalization afforded the Adrian Dominican
Sisters more latitude in living out the quintessential
meaning of the Order of Preacher's ministry — to
walk with and among people in order to help them



fulfill their calling to be instruments
of Christ’s word, love, concern and
compassion.

One of the most visible aspects of the

change was that most Adrian Dominican
Sisters stopped wearing the traditional white
habits with which they were so closely identified.
They remain recognizable as Sisters, however,
because of their presence to our patients, our
employees and the people of our community.

Adrian Dominican Sisters have become more
limited in numbers and more stretched in their
ministry, yet we are fortunate to have sixteen
women religious ministering among us at St. Rose
Dominican Hospitals. Likewise, the Sisters
feel blessed that the hospital's ministry has
grown and thrived through the work and
volunteerism of lay people willing to join

hands with them in tending to the

physical, emotional and spiritual

needs of Christ's people.

MISSION STATEMENT

Under the sponsorship of the Adrian Dominican Sisters and
in response to the changing needs of the people of Southern
Nevada, St. Rose Dominican Hospitals offers quality, compassionate
care. We promote wholeness of body, mind and spirit in the
Dominican tradition of working with others to improve the
health status of the community in a shared pursuit for justice
and truth with a commitment to those with special needs.

OUR CORE VALUES

Dignity — Respecting the inherent value and worth each
person possesses as a member of the human family.

Collaboration — Working together with people who support
common values and vision to achieve shared goals.

Justice — Advocating for change of social structures that
undermine human dignity; demonstrating special concern
for those who are poor.

Stewardship — Accountability for the human, financial and
ecological resources entrusted to our care as we promote
healing and wholeness.

Excellence - Commitment to quality in our work and services
through teamwork and innovation.
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This is a significant year in the history of our valley.
When seven Adrian Dominican Sisters arrived in
Southern Nevada some sixty years ago, their presence
— along with that of the privatization of the industrial
plants — stemmed an exodus of people from
Henderson that began when World War il ended.
The Sisters’ commitment to the community signaled

a fresh start for a war-time town.

Sister Felicia Haidysz and Sister Anne Wasco (Sister
Angelita) were two of the first seven Sisters. They are
still alive as is the hospital's office manager, Bettylou
Anderson; its banker, Selma Bartlett; its first community
board chair, Lou LaPorta; and one of its first physicians,
Dr. Karl Hazeltine. The memories that they shared
helped us begin this book, but there are many exciting
chapters of the hospitals’ story yet to be written.

It has been a privilege to lead St. Rose Dominican
Hospitals through the past 16 years. When | arrived,
I' was greeted by a warm and savvy group of women
religious committed to caring for the whole person.
But the hospital was ill-prepared to secure the
healthcare contracts necessary to survive in an

DOMINICAN

FAMILY

extremely competitive healthcare marketplace. | hoped
to help the Sisters turn the hospital’s troubles around.

| am proud to say that we did so collaboratively. With

the help of CHW, our employees, physicians, volunteers i
and civic-minded individuals, St. Rose Dominican
Hospitals — now three campuses strong — is a pillar of

healthcare excellence in our community. Thank you

for helping carry out our ministry and shape it for

the future. In turn, | know that you will join me in

expressing sincere gratitude to our Sisters for the

extraordinary role they play in helping shape our

professional and personal paths.

St. Rose Dominican Hospitals is more than acute-care
facilities that provide excellent care. We are a living
legacy — a culture of quality, compassionate caring,
of dedicated community service and of enduring core
values of dignity, justice, collaboration, stewardship
and excellence.

Rod A. Davis
President Southern Nevada Market
and St. Rose Dominican Hospitals
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CHAPTER ONE




Basic Magnesium Hospital opens
World War Il ends

Government seeks buyer for
the hospital

Sisters assume the facility,
found Rose de Lima Hospital

THE BEGINNINGS

1"







In the early 1940s, a town called Henderson was “born in
America’s defense.” It rose out of a dusty spot of desert
in Southern Nevada, about equal distance from the
imposing Boulder Dam (Hoover Dam) and the

already infamous Las Vegas.

The life blood of the town was Basic Magnesium Inc.,
a plant that pulled water and electricity from the dam
to produce magnesium, an incredibly light, strong

and versatile material used for munitions and
airplane parts. “The ‘miracle metal” would help the
United States and its allies win the war,” said Mayor
Jim Gibson, whose grandfather was among the first
Basic Magnesium Incorporated (BMI) engineers sent
to Great Britain to learn the secret of producing
magnesium for munitions.

World War Il ended in 1945, and by 1947, magnesium
production was no longer necessary for defense

purposes. While commercial production continued,

many of the 14,000 BMI employees moved away from

Henderson. Enrollment in the town site’s schools

dropped by two thirds and more than half the homes

built to house BMI workers fell vacant. In 1947, the United

States War Asset Administration actually offered Henderson
for sale as war surplus property.
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FATHER PETER V. MORAN

In March of 1943, Father Moran came to a community whose
people represented a variety of religions, with no place to worship.
He set up a small Catholic church on 22 Idaho Way but soon
convinced the government that churches were an asset to a
community and St. Peter’s Church on Boulder Highway was
established. Father Moran, through his encouragement of
Bishop Gorman, was equally instrumental in securing Basic
Magnesium Hospital for the Adrian Dominican Sisters.
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A key piece of that property — Basic Magnesium Hospital —
was put up for sale. The government founded the hospital in
1942 to care for BMI employees and their families. Father
Peter Moran, pastor of St. Peter's Church in Henderson, saw
an opportunity for the Catholic church to rise to the challenge
of caring for the community. He shared his ideas with Bishop
Thomas K. Gorman, from the Diocese of Reno, Nevada.

The bishop, in full support of the proposition, wrote a letter to
Mother Mary Gerald Barry (Mother Gerald Barry), OP, Superior
of the Adrian Dominican Sisters of Adrian, Michigan. The letter,
dated May 20, 1946, states:

“The hospital is the last word in equipment, including even
dental facilities. The whole plant would be turned over to begin
with at a nominal lease of one dollar per year, which would
include free water and power. . . . The hospital is centrally
located to serve the whole of Clark County, being equidistant
from Las Vegas, a rapidly developing community, on the one
hand, and Boulder City, the site of the great Boulder Dam,

on the other. It is the only first class private hospital in the
area. . . . As time is an element in this matter — other private
parties being interested — we would like to present the
government representatives with an accomplished fact.”
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Mother Gerald Barry answered immediately by Western Union:
“Interested. Would like more information on number of beds,
wards and private rooms.”

Mother Gerald Barry's swift response to Bishop Gorman was
the first of many letters, telegrams and negotiations facilitated
by Father Moran. In a lengthy letter dated May 25, 1946,
Father Moran states: “Through the good offices of our loyal
friend, Senator McCarran, in Washington, and Mr. Unsworth,
the local government representative, we have the opportunity
to get this hospital for an order of Sisters. . . . | do not have
to tell you that the majority of people, whether Catholic or
non-Catholic, are inclined to patronize a Sisters’ hospital.”




MOTHER
MARY
GERALD
BARRY, OP

Superior of the
Adrian Dominican Sisters

Mother Gerald Barry was a very dynamic woman who
‘was said to have “reached out to other communities,
helped educate other Sisters and shared what we had
to share.” During her term as the major superior,
the Adrian Dominican congregation witnessed
growth and expansion in its membership and
ministries. Mother Gerald Barry was reelected as
the major superior for several consecutive terms,
serving in the position from 1939 to 1957. She
died in November 1962.

During her term as the hospital administrator, Sister
Carolyn wrote to Mother Gerald Barry frequently and
with great fondness. The letters reflect the great
esteem the Sisters had for Mother Gerald Barry and
their deep gratitude for the guidance she provided them.




On May 31, 1946, the Adrian Dominican Council met and voted to
accept the proposition. Acceptance was only the beginning of a
year of proceedings with the government. Every legal detail
was examined thoroughly to see that the Sisters were
entering into an agreeable arrangement.

As the necessary steps were taken to transfer
the hospital to the Sisters, Father Moran
served as the Sisters’ champion. He made
rounds to local companies. He called on
civic, religious and fraternal organizations.
He spoke to the larger communities of
Henderson and Las Vegas in order to gain
support for the sale of the hospital to
the Sisters. He also presented the plan to
the hospital’s physicians. They welcomed
the idea of having the Sisters manage the
hospital, however, they were reluctant
to see the hospital sold, in part because
they received an income from the
government above that which they
earned through their practices. While a
number of physicians worked to retain the
hospital’s outpatient clinic as a separate entity,
the government authorities ultimately decided to
grant undivided control of both facilities to the Sisters.
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WHAT'S

As negotiations for the hospital’s sale were finalized,
another issue needed to be settled — the renaming of
the hospital. Telegrams and letters came and went with
proposals. Mother Gerald Barry even suggested the name
Gorman Hospital. With a sense of humility and humor,
Bishop Gorman replied: “I feel deeply appreciative that
you would even think of such a thing. . .. There might be
some justification for the institution’s suffering the handicap
of such a name had | done something to get the hospital,
but you and Father Moran accomplished that.” After
considering an array of options, the name Rose de Lima
was chosen. It held great appeal to everyone involved
as it honored Saint Rose of Lima, Peru, a Dominican Saint
and the first saint of the Americas. Bishop Gorman took
particular delight in the name because his birthday fell on
Saint Rose's feast day. To be sensitive to the community, it
was decided to omit the word "“Saint” so that non-Catholics
would not feel excluded from its services.

IN A NAME?

On September 12, 1947, gold letters spelling out the
name Rose de Lima and defining the “woman spirit” of
the hospital were installed above the hospital’'s main
entrance. A gold cross defining the Sisters’ devotion to
the healing mission of Jesus Christ was raised to the roof
peak above the central lobby.




SAINT ROSE DE LIMA

A native of Peru, Saint Rose of Lima served the
people of Latin America and the Philippines.

She was canonized in 1671, becoming the first o swieet ~$¢¢ﬁf¢3

canonized saint of the Western Hemisphere.
Though she was christened with the name Isabel, KO— S%‘
she was called Rose because of her great beauty.
Rose grew flowers and herbs for those who

were ill or apprehensive. Sister Monica Stankus,
vice president of Mission Integration at the

P e
diffusing everywhere
Rose de Lima Campus, believes Saint Rose was t(‘e, oaor o} vigtw
a tremendous example of love. "Rose was
greatly influenced by Catherine of Siena’s !
profound and practical love of God and “‘a“é’ us 5“0"@‘/&—’
neighbor. She sought to imitate that love by i
L d
of the light and

caring for the people in her own town,” said
L4
sweetness which

Sister Monica. During her ministry, the world

around her was in a frenzy to amass fortunes

of gold and riches, but she lived humbly and

frugally feeling her life was rich with the

blessings of the Lord. f‘lou e‘j‘y@ﬁt‘:’/
This depiction of Saint Rose de Lima was y

hand drawn by Sister Marie Edmund on a : @
congratulatory card she sent to the Sisters in 1947. :




ROSE DE LIMA: A RED LETTER DAY

On June 27, 1947, months of “red tape” drew to a
close and the hospital was handed over to the
Adrian Dominican Sisters without any pageantry.
At the end of the day, Sister Carolyn sat down and
wrote Mother Gerald Barry to say: “So far everything
seems to be going along smoothly — Deo Gratias.
The Sisters are just wonderful, and all act as if
taking over a hospital was an everyday occurrence.
They are flitting around as busy as bees, and
everybody is wondering just what struck the
place. As one of the doctors said to Sister Marie
Daniel, ‘This seems like a real hospital now.’”

Sister Carolyn’s letter went on to share the great
joy Father Moran felt as the Sisters took the helm
of the hospital. The Father himself wrote to
Mother Gerald Barry saying, “This is a red letter day
and, needless to say, | am happy beyond expression.”

The following morning at 6:15 a.m., Father Moran
presided over the first mass in a four-bed ward,
which was converted to a chapel, equipped and
furnished through his efforts.




In conforming to multiple formalities, Mother Gerald Barry wrote to the doctors on
the medical staff of the hospital and to the Clark County Medical Society. Father
Moran’s letter of October 20, 1946, to Mother Gerald Barry said: “You, no doubt,
have received the written endorsement of the Clark County Medical Society. This |
deem a very persuasive factor since the doctors were so wholehearted in their
expression of cooperation with the Sisters.”

In a Christmas card sent to the bishop that year, Mother Gerald Barry included a
letter that said: “/ visited the hospital a few weeks ago, and was delighted at its
beautiful location and its excellent equipment. . . . | beg your prayers that God may
send us the vocation needed to carry on there and in the many other places which
I have promised, perhaps a bit rashly, to staff.”

In May of the following year, the government announced its agreement with the
Adrian Dominican Sisters. The Sisters would accept ownership and
responsibility for the hospital. They committed to assume the hospital’s
$300,000 debt and to pay one dollar yearly to the government over the
next twenty-five years. As part of the agreement, a utility consideration
was granted to the Sisters. In turn, the Adrian Dominican Sisters were
granted legal sanction of the hospital until the interim permit was drawn up
and the final deed executed. At 7:00 a.m., June 27, 1947, the transfer
became official. The ceremony, or lack thereof, was quite simple. The
representatives of the War Asset Administration merely stopped in to talk with
Sister Carolyn for a short while. Then, after offering their congratulations to the
Adrian Dominican Sisters, the men left and the Sisters went to work.
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CHAPTER TWO




Selecting Seven Sisters
Nuns on the Run

Defining Patient Dignity

PIONEERING WOMEN
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During the months leading up to the hospital’s transfer to
the Sisters, Mother Gerald Barry assembled a community
of women religious to run the hospital in Henderson.
She selected seven Sisters — four of whom were nurses.

Mother Gerald Barry’s first selection was a registered
nurse named Sister Mary Carolyn Harrison (Sister Carolyn).
She sent her to another hospital for six months to
learn hospital operations, thereby prepping her to
serve as Rose de Lima’s first administrator.

She also chose Sister Marie Daniel Lundy, a
registered nurse trained in labor and delivery.

The two women traveled from Adrian to Las Vegas
via the Union Pacific. They arrived on May 22,
1947, and were met by Father Moran and local
government officials.

In the following days, they toured the hospital and
Henderson, moved into a rented house on California
Way and contacted numerous physicians in hopes of
forming a medical staff. Hospital annals indicate that
from May 26, 1947, forward, “the Sisters spent part of
each day in the hospital studying the setup and becoming
acquainted with the routine and the members of the staff.”
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Sister Madonna was a nurse trained to give “drop
ether,” used as anesthesia at the time. Thus, on call
around the clock, she was a constant presence in
the surgical suites, birthing room and in times of
emergencies. She took great pride in caring for

patients, says Bettylou Anderson, who always found SHESHINE IR
reassurance in the swish of Sister Madonna’s woolen MADONNA
garments and the rhythmic bounce of her rosary MAIER OP

beads as she rushed down the halls to assist
with a surgery. “Her movements were
confident and reassuring. They were
a sign that help was on its
way, “ said Bettylou.

Sister Monica Stankus, a
native of Las Vegas, can
attest to Sister Madonna'’s
expertise. “She provided
me anesthesia for a surgery
about 50 years ago and it
went very well,” said Sister Monica.



Meetings with various doctors of Henderson and Las Vegas
were also held. Policies of the hospital were outlined and a
medical staff elected.

On June 15, approximately 200 area residents representing
Henderson’s Victory Village and Carver Park as well as Boulder
City and Las Vegas, attended a reception welcoming the
Sisters. “The people of this area are accepting the Sisters
wholeheartedly and, indeed, it is only right. The coming of the
Sisters is the greatest thing that could happen in Southern
Nevada, ” said Father Moran.

Back in Michigan, Mother Gerald Barry continued her selection
of Sisters. She chose registered nurses Sister Marie Augustine
Seissinger (Sister Augustine), and Sister Daniel Therese Smith,
both of whom had received their degrees prior to entering the
convent. Three additional Sisters — Sister Marie Felicia Haidysz
(Sister Felicia), Sister Marie Joyce Smith (Sister Marie) and
Sister Anne Wasco (Sister Angelita) — completed the original
group of women who would be sent to Henderson, Nevada.”

“Sister Madonna, a nurse anesthetist, would arrive just one month later from
Southern California.
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According to the National Weather Service,
1947 had the most one hundred-degree days in
a year based on data from 1937 to the present.




"I didn‘t have a degree,” said Sister Angelita. “So, | was swept
off my feet when Mother Gerald called me to the office and
said, ‘'Sister, | need you."”

According to Sister Angelita, that was Mother Gerald Barry's way
of letting a Sister know that she was important. After learning
that her mission would change, she said it was “just a matter
of a week or so that we were on the train and going west.”

“Before we left Adrian, she gave us her blessing and said,
‘Now just do God'’s will in the new place,’” said Sister Felicia.
Despite that, the Sisters were admittedly apprehensive, even
scared. They had lived a semi-cloistered life focused on truth,
prayer, education and service to those in need. They had great
trepidation traveling to the Las Vegas Valley — the wild west — with
its legalized gambling, prostitution and organized crime.

Floods in the Midwest delayed the Sisters’ travels. Thus, their
train pulled into the depot after midnight just one day before
they would assume responsibility for the hospital. They
disembarked dressed in white habits topped with the black
woolen traveling cloaks Adrian Dominicans wore whenever in
the public eye. Even still, the absence of sunlight did nothing
to diminish the oppressive summer heat. That the Sisters
survived the train trip and the heat would seem a successful
end to their journey in itself. However, it was just the beginning.

SI5TER
MARY CAROLYN
HARRISON, OP

Administrator, 1947-1953

According to Father Peter Moran,
Sister Mary Carolyn Harrison
fulfilled her role as Rose de Lima
Hospital's first administrator with
“great prudence and diplomacy.”
He said, “While she faced replacing
Basic Magnesium Hospital’s
administrator and instituting
Catholic teachings on healthcare,
she did so with exceptional grace.”







Sister Carolyn and Father Moran met the women, and they
drove to Henderson under a cover of darkness. When
they arrived at the small home that had been rented
and furnished for them, the Sisters went directly to
bed. “In the morning | opened the blinds to see what
was next to us,” said Sister Angelita. “Nothing. . . .
nothing but sage brush. | remember thinking that if
somebody would have said, ‘Go home,” | would
have gladly walked back.”
NUNS ON THE RUN No one walked. In fact, from that point forward,

the Sisters were, as Dr. Karl Hazeltine described
them, “Nuns on the run.”

They worked earnestly to live up to the expectations
Mother Gerald Barry prescribed in a letter which read:
"I don’t want you to be floorwalkers — as though
you were in Marshall Fields of Chicago. . . . | expect
the Sisters to do the nursing and the work that is to be
done there. . . . taking hold of the various duties in the
manner that will give glory to our Father who is in Heaven.”

Rose de Lima’s first elected chief of staff was Dr. Kenneth Smith. Its first secretary of medical staff was Dr. Z. Starzynski 33



DUTY CALLS

When the Sisters arrived, some
employees were skeptical. Some
even left. But Bettylou Anderson
liked her job and did not side
with the employees who quit.

She was impressed with the Sisters’
willingness to not only work, but
also take on whatever had to be
done. Their work ethic and their
spirit of collaboration soon won
over the employees. Sister Veronica
Gonthier, who would come to the
hospital many years later, said,
“The Sisters had no shifts. They
were just on duty. They worked all
day . . . and they often stayed the
night with a seriously ill patient.”




The Sisters set a routine: rise at 5:00 a.m., say morning prayers,
celebrate Mass, eat breakfast and arrive at their stations by
7:00 a.m. to give reports. The Sisters’ routine was often
interrupted due to emergencies, but their faith and prayer life
got them through the difficult times.

Sister Angelita recalls her first day. She was “flabbergasted”
when Sister Carolyn introduced her as the dietary manager to
the kitchen staff. “/ knew | would be working in the kitchen,
but not until then did | realize | would be in charge,” said
Sister Angelita. When the staff asked her what she wanted
done, she said a quick prayer, told them to carry on as they
had before, then turned and sighed in relief.

Her relief would be short lived. In the first few months of
transition, the hospital’s patient count dipped so low that
the Sisters had to call off many staff members — some only
temporarily. Thus, the Sisters took on a myriad of duties.
Sister Angelita frequently found herself as the chief cook
and bottle washer. Likewise, Sister Felicia worked in both
the nursery and medical records, and Sister Marie Daniel was
on call twenty-four hours as the nursing director and also
served as the hospital’s pharmacist.
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Sister Marie Daniel’s namesake, Daniel Foley, continues
to be part of the St. Rose family. He currently serves
on St. Rose Dominican Hospitals Community Board
and served as the past chair of the St. Rose
Dominican Health Foundation.

SISTER MARIE DANIEL LUNDY

Taking over a hospital was hard work, but Sister Marie Daniel Lundy
was no stranger to challenges. She was an obstetrics nurse who loved
to work so much that she often pulled double duty as the pharmacist
before the hospital had one. On first blush, people sometimes found
her stern, but under the firm facade was a warm-hearted woman
who was deeply revered by the hospital’s doctors, staff and patients.

All who knew her said that she “was in her glory” whenever an
expectant mother was admitted to the hospital. “She had a take
charge attitude and tended to a woman’s every need during labor,”
said Rita Maestas, a fifty-year employee of St. Rose who considers
Sister Marie Daniel Lundy her mentor.

After a baby’s delivery, she cuddled and rocked each newborn and
gave every new baby a piece of her own heart.’

No one knew the depth of Sister Marie Daniel’s affection or the
breadth of her influence better than Betty Foley who gave birth to
nine children in ten years at Rose de Lima. When Betty’s youngest
son was born, Sister Marie Daniel came to her room holding the
little boy’s birth certificate. She had taken the liberty of filling in

a name for him — Daniel.

‘Taken from the book Angel In White.



The work was difficult in the beginning, but it brought the
Sisters close together. Individual challenges became collective
concerns as they worked together to fulfill their mission.

“We had to build our reputation for the hospital,” said Sister
Angelita. Recognizing that they could not run a hospital alone,
the Adrian Dominican Sisters formed solid relationships with the
hospital staff and built bridges with individuals in the community.

Lou LaPorta settled in Henderson with his wife, Elayne, after
receiving his discharge from the Air Force. He said that the Sisters’
presence in the community was “the beginning of something
dynamic.” They were not simply responsible for the care of
individuals, but part of a collective movement that breathed
new life into the desert community.
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LOU AND ELAYNE LAPORTA

During World War ll, the government selected Nevada as the site to produce magnesium
for munitions. It also found the area well suited for producing something else - soldiers.
The isolated deserts made ideal training grounds for the Army Air Corps. In the early 1940s,
the Las Vegas Gunnery School, which later became Nellis Air Force Base, employed roughly
10,000 people and graduated more than 4,000 people a week to serve in active duty.

Lou LaPorta, an Air Force bombardier, was stationed at the gunnery school when the war
ended. After his discharge from the military, he and his wife Elayne decided to settle in
Henderson. “We were from a small town in upstate New York and Henderson seemed
to offer that same sense of community,” says Lou.

They quickly became part of the St. Rose family when Elayne LaPorta gave birth to the
first baby born at Rose de Lima on June 29, 1947. At first, Elayne was not sure she
would like the stern-looking woman who would care for her; however, she quickly
warmed to the big-hearted Sister Mary Daniel who tenderly cared for her and her
newborn, Peter.

In the decades that followed, Lou LaPorta lent his expertise as a businessman to the
hospital. In fact, when a hospital community board was established in the 1960s, he
became its first chairperson. He would later sit on the finance committee and the
committee that assessed the need for a second St. Rose campus.

Elayne became a highly-recognized biblical folk artist.
At right is her whimsical depiction of Noah’s ark.
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Carver Park Apartments

into the segregated
in Henderson.

First family to move




DIGNITY

Respecting the inherent value and worth each
person possesses as a member of the human family.

In the early 1940s, the magnesium plant employed
more than 15,000 people. To accommodate the
influx of workers, the government built housing,
including two racially and gender segregated
apartment complexes on the east side of Boulder
Highway. The Victory Village Apartments housed
white families. In contrast, the Carver Park
Apartments housed only black families.

Basic Magnesium Hospital, like Henderson'’s
apartment complexes, was segregated. But as soon
as Sister Carolyn took charge as the administrator
of the hospital, she ended the practice of
isolating patients based on their race or ethnicity.
Bettylou Anderson recalls a staff member asking
Sister Carolyn where she should place a particular
black patient. “[Sister Carolyn said] if you are a
medical patient, you go to a medical ward.

Sister Carolyn put an end to that [segregation],”
said Bettylou.

“We must build a new world,

a far better world — one in which the eternal dignity of man is respected.”

- U.S. President Harry S. Truman
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CHAPTER THREE




Dedication Day
First JCAHO Hospital Accredited

Baking Heavenly Angel Bread

CULTIVATING A MINISTRY
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As the sun set on the Sisters’ first summer in Southern
Nevada, they counted their blessings — cooler weather
and a supportive community were among them.
Acceptance by the American Medical Association
of Hospitals and the formal dedication of Rose de
Lima were also causes for celebration.

On a breezy October afternoon, Bishop Gorman
presided over the dedication of Rose de Lima,
giving a community Mass in the chapel before the
official dedication. Following this, the Benediction
of the Most Blessed Sacrament was held on the
hospital’s front lawn. Dr. Gerald Sylvain, president of
the Clark County Medical Society, and Edwin D.
Hickman, an LDS Bishop, were among several key
community leaders who spoke to an audience
comprised of public officials, physicians and clergy.
Among those present were Mother Gerald Barry and
other Sisters from Adrian, Michigan; Casa Grande,
Winslow and Kingman, Arizona; Santa Cruz and
Los Angeles, California; as well as Las Vegas.
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Bishop Gorman (center) and Father Moran (far right) '
with other clergy at the dedication celebration.




Afterward, guests enjoyed a special meal and a large cake that
looked just like the hospital. It was designed by Chef Rom of
the El Rancho Vegas.

Those who did not attend the dedication sent their well
wishes via a cascade of telegrams, letters and cards.

Congratulations came from Sisters, Fathers and Archbishops,
as well as from religious, civic and government leaders from
around the valley, the state and the nation. The Sisters
preserved the outpouring of goodwill in a memory book
which is a treasured keepsake of St. Rose Dominican Hospitals’
rich heritage.

The pomp and circumstance soon subsided and the Sisters
returned to their call of caring for the sick until the year drew
10 a close. Just before Christmas, they set aside time to
celebrate their first six months of service at Rose de Lima with
a dinner honoring the doctors and an appreciation party for
the employees.
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“We had the privilege of successfully performing the first
blood transfusion in Clark County to a newborn with RH
factor incompatibility. For several years prior to the
advent of neonatal units, this newborn held the record
as the smallest surviving infant at one pound eleven
ounces. Our neonatal unit was our beloved Sister Marie
Daniel. She maintained a near twenty-four-hour vigil
over these infants with only brief moments away from
the crib side. Such was the case of this little girl who was
born at about twenty-six weeks of gestation or about
three months premature. Under the dear Sister’s watchful
eye and stimulating support, she lived and thrived
without any apparent handicap. We nicknamed her
“Qur Little Trout” because | caught many trout upon
Kolob Mountain that measured and weighed more than
she did. Some eighteen years later when they were living
in Arizona, her mother brought her to Henderson to see
the sites of her small beginnings. She was a beautiful,
petite young lady who had graduated from high school
with honors and could speak three languages fluently.
She was somewhat amazed that we found her so special.”

— Dr. Harold Miller




The year 1948, the Sisters’ first full year at Rose de Lima, started
off on a high note when in January, Rose de Lima became a
member of the American Hospital Association (AHA) and the
Sisters learned that the new Catholic school in Las Vegas would
be staffed by Adrian Dominican Sisters. They found joy and comfort
in Southern Nevada’s growing community of women religious.

On May 19, 1948, the final deed to the hospital was executed
and ownership of the hospital was vested in the Sisters of

St. Dominic of Adrian, Michigan. This blessing did not come
without its share of trials and tribulations, however. Chief
among the difficulties was convincing doctors to come and

THE PEAKS AND VALLEYS OF SOUTHERN NEVADA

live in Henderson. For a time, some of the physicians who

had previously worked in Basic Magnesium Hospital’s clinic
continued to split their time between Las Vegas and Rose de Lima.
But they eventually began directing all of their patients to their
Las Vegas offices.

The Sisters said daily prayers in hopes that doctors would
move to Henderson, but it was a risk for doctors to start

a practice with the uncertainty of the plant’s success under
private management. They also wondered if employee
retention would be problematic in the desert.
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Excerpts from hospital notes on

JUNE 26, 1952

Rose de Lima'’s fifth anniversary

“Working in conjunction with the Sisters are
fifteen registered nurses and five aides. Among
this group, Mrs. Edith de Montague, R.N.,

Mrs. Hilda, Muelheisen, R.N., Mrs. Beatrice
Zimmerman, Mrs. Dora McAnally and Mrs. Ada
Newton have been employed through the five
years. Ms. Bettylou Hildebrand (married name
of Anderson), bookkeeper and secretary holds
the record for long service in the business office.
She worked under the employment of BMI and
continued on with the new administration.”

“More than 8,600 patients were cared for in the
first five years.”

“Twelve doctors comprise the active medical
staff and an additional twenty-six doctors and
dentists from Las Vegas hold courtesy staff
membership. James B. French, M.D., was
selected as the chief of staff in 195"




In the early 1950s, approximately two dozen physicians held
courtesy staff status at Rose de Lima. Less than a handful lived
and practiced in Henderson, according to Dr. Harold Miller
who came to Henderson in 1953 to work for two of those
three physicians — Dr. Lorne Phillips, who was trained in
general and pediatric surgery, and Dr. George Miners. Dr. Karl
Hazeltine would join the group a year after Dr. Miller.

With the help of local industry, Henderson was officially
incorporated on May 23, 1953, and Dr. Jim French was sworn
in as the town’s first mayor. Sister Felicia Haidysz was appointed
as the second administrator of Rose de Lima Hospital that
same year. Under her leadership the medical staff grew,
though satisfying doctors was cause for concern. In a letter
dated November 1953, Sister Felicia wrote, “May God reward
you Mother for your many encouraging words to ‘your problem
children in the west,”” referencing several of the struggles the
Sisters faced, one of which was pleasing physicians. The letter
went on to read, “One day we have very satisfied doctors, and
then again, nothing is right. . . . we take it at stride.”

A young Jewish physician named Dr. Rueben Lockitch, who
came highly recommended by the Sisters of Providence, began
practicing at the hospital at about that time. He tried to
schedule a surgery for a particular day, but found that the
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SARSSIRESR
MARY
FELICIA
HAIDYSZ, OP

Administrator, 1953-1959

The title “Angel of Mercy” fit Sister Felicia Haidysz. As
one of the first seven Sisters, she worked in the nursery
and in medical records for six years before taking the
position of hospital administrator. Selma Bartlett said
that the compassionate Sister “always forgave the
medical bills of those who could not afford care.”

In July 1959, after two six-year terms at St. Rose, Sister
Felicia received a ministry reassignment. Dominican
culture at the time called Sisters to take on a different
ministry every six years. The community organized a
campaign in hopes of keeping her at the hospital. An
editorial letter and an accompanying illustration ran in
the Home News. It prompted many people to write the
Mother General.
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hospital’s only anesthesia machine was already reserved for
another surgery. He asked the Sisters to order another. When
he was told that it would be $1,000 — a cost they could not
cover — he picked up the phone and called his friend Beldon
Katelman, owner of the El Rancho Vegas hotel, to ask if he
would pay for it. Mr. Katelman came out the next day to visit
a patient and promised the Sisters they would have the funds
in hand within a few days.

Sister Felicia was delighted that Dr. Lockitch took such interest
in the hospital and hoped that he would stay on in
Henderson. The “medical profession is rather rugged in these
parts. . . it seems a bitter struggle most of the time,”

Sister Felicia said in reference to the territorial tug-o-war over
patients in the small town. Dr. Lockitch did in fact stay and
later became chief of staff.

Sister Felicia’s wit about the wrangling between doctors was
apparent in the words she wrote about a banquet the Sisters
held for the doctors. She wrote, “About twenty-eight
(physicians) were present and no lives were |ost.”

With each passing year the relationship of respect between
the Sisters, doctors and staff solidified, and the hospital’s
census crept upwards. The wards, once wanting for patients,
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were frequently at or near capacity. The Sisters often
gave up their living quarters to accommodate
additional patients. A letter to Mother Gerald Barry
stated: “We are as busy as can be. It seems there
is no end of patients. | moved out of my room
last night to make room for someone and this
morning we had to send two patients home to
await bed space. . . . Evidently a delayed reaction
to our prayers of 1947 and 1948!"

In 1954, one of the hospital’s first expansions —
a dormitory-style addition for the Sisters and a
dining and recreation room for the Sisters of the
hospital and St. Peter’s Catholic Church — got
under way. There would be much more expansion
to come as the Sisters worked to serve the
burgeoning community.
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Senator Pat MicCarran

A PBS highlight quoted
Senator McCarran as saying,
“Nothing is too good for the
fine people of Nevada,” in
reference to how the state
and its residents benefited
from the federal public works
projects for which he
lobbied. The senator had
equally warm sentiments
about Rose de Lima Hospital.
He continually supported the
Sisters’ endeavors to care for
the people of Henderson and
its neighboring communities.




Before more expansion could occur, there
would be other hurdles to overcome, including
a bit of trouble with the government. The
Sisters received a letter claiming that they
were violating the deed by renting a portion
of the hospital’s office space to doctors. The
Sisters appealed to Senator McCarran for
help, and he did just that. After a series of
communications with governmental agencies,
the Sisters received a telegram from the
Senator stating that their interpretation of the
deed was declared authentic, and thus they
were not in violation.

There was also a “power struggle” of sorts
with the utilities. While the Sisters had been
led to believe that they would receive
electricity and water free of charge, they
were charged high rates. After consultation
with the head of the Colorado River
Commission, the rates were cut almost in
half. Eventually the issue was resolved and
the hospital got its power and water free for
a time.
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“May God reward you Mot

for the spiritual backing we
received on the day of our survey.
Dr. Fernald Fitts seemed greatly
impressed with the general setup
of the hospital and commended

us on the wonderful spirit therein.”

. — Sister Felicia, letter to Mother Gerald Barry on June 14, 1954,
in regard to the hospital’s JCAHO survey.
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The Sisters weathered such worries without losing sight of
their mission to do God's will. “Under the leadership of the
devoted Sisters, Rose de Lima became the elite of the group
[of hospitals] in the 1950 and 1960 period — at least in the
eyes of the local citizens and many others,” said Dr. Miller.
According to Lou LaPorta, it was not simply the people of
Henderson who adored the Sisters, but the entire Las Vegas
Valley. “People were willing to travel from all edges of the
valley to be cared for at Rose de Lima,” he said.

While the delivery of quality, compassionate care and
community service secured the Sisters a place in the hearts of
all they served, their commitment to excellence earned

Rose de Lima recognition within the hospital industry. In 1955,
Rose de Lima earned the distinction of becoming the first Joint
Commission on the Accreditation of Hospital Organizations
(JCAHO) facility in Southern Nevada.
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Rose de Lima Hospital
HENDERSON, NEVADA




As cherished as the Sisters and the little, low rambling hospital
of sixty-five beds were, many of the 10,000 people cared
for within its walls during that first decade did not have the
financial wherewithal to pay for the medical attention
they received. Sister Felicia routinely forgave the medical
bills of the less fortunate, leaving little to no margin to
purchase much needed new equipment and to
expand the hospital.

A Las Vlegas Review-Journal reporter shed light on
the Sister’s situation in an article dated June 16,

BUILDING 1957. It read: “Try to picture six patient, tolerant
selfless Sisters of the cloth working around the
SUPPORT clock. . . to stem a flood of sickness and injury,

death and accident, birth and new life that
descends on them without letup, twenty-four hours
a day. That is the story of Rose de Lima Hospital.

That is the story of wonderful nuns who ask nothing
more than the chance to make people well, who give
nothing less than their entire selves to people no matter
what color you are, no matter who you believe in, no
matter what you believe — for if you are sick or ill, or dying
and bleeding or if you are giving birth, you need them and
they need you.
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JANUARY 30, 1957
An explosion took place at the Titanium Plant. The hospital handled

fifteen emergencies from this disaster. (Disaster drill training was a
routine occurrence at Rose de Lima Hospital,)

YRUNERYAR2S 8 E R IROE5 18
Twenty-four babies in the nursery today. (4 story has often been told

that so many babies were born in the late 19505 that the hospital did not
have enough bassinets to hold them. In an effort to find suitable sleeping
quarters for the little ones, some were placed in the top drawer of a
bureau. People have often wondered if this story is folklore — hospital
annals have confirmed it to be true).

“Everything is progressing at a rapid pace and the
babies just keep us stepping. We average about
fifty babies and more a month — just since the
beginning of the year we have had 530 births —
so that will give you an idea, Mother, about the
increase in the maternity department.”

— Sister Felicia in a November 1956 letter
to Mother Gerald Barry
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But society is such today that it is not enough to give of yourself
— you must have the realistic things of life, like money and
equipment and hospital space and surgical tools and facilities,
to help strengthen your own inner drive to make people well.

Rose de Lima Hospital has needed these realistic things of life
ever since it started — it has never been needing of the drive
and the sincere will of the Sisters to help people get well. If it
were possible for hospitals to be built on selflessness and love,
Rose de Lima Hospital would tower thousands of feet into the
air far above any structure in the area, far, far above the
skimpy man made structure of towering Hoover Dam.”

The hospital did, in fact, have realistic needs. Its wards were
bursting at their seams. Thus, Sister Felicia strove to raise money
to expand the hospital by accepting — and often encouraging
— the community’s offers of help. The St. Rose Women'’s
Committee records state that “Sister Felicia harnessed the
spirit of the 1950s and was able to reach into the community
to find financial resources beyond reimbursable care.”

With the help of Kathlyn Mowbray and Lucy Foley, she organized
an auxiliary of women who gave generously of both their time
and talents. “My cousin was an Adrian Dominican in the
Dominican Republic. She encouraged me to help the Sisters in
Henderson, ” said Kathlyn. The auxiliary raised money through
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several events including the Mardi Gras Ball. Sister Felicia also
cultivated gifts from grateful patients.

Lucy’s sister-in-law Betty Foley, had nine children over the course
of just ten years at Rose de Lima. She recalls one of the many
evenings Sister Felicia joined her family for dinner at their
home. “We asked a few friends to join us, and Sister Felicia
pleaded her case for the hospital so convincingly that one of
our neighbors wrote her a sizable check right there and then.”
The neighbor, J.A. Tiberti, found Sister Felicia's passion for the
hospital’s ministry so persuasive that he later told the Foley's
he would likely go broke if he were to dine with her again.

As the 1950s progressed, so did the Sisters’ ambitious plan to
build a $1 million, three-story patient tower. Fundraising
became a priority. Harley E. Harmon, a local insurance agent
and county commissioner in the 1950s, headed up a $150,000
fundraising drive that was kicked off with a luncheon at the
Sands Hotel. Hank Greenspun, publisher of the Las Vegas Sun,
made the first pledge of support for $2,500. The Sands Hotel
donated $2,500 as well, and the Tropicana Hotel and the

El Cortez gave $500. Hospital records indicate that other
organizations gave generously during the 1950s. The Major
Max C. Flieschmann Foundation gave $100,000, and $21,700
was received from the Ford Foundation. John De Luca of De
Luca Liquor presented the Sisters a check for $3,500 he raised
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Barbara Greenspun poses
with Frank Sinatra.

A Timeless Tradition - St. Rose’s annual ball was founded in
1957 by the Women's Auxiliary led by Kathlyn Mowbray
(pictured with her husband, John Mowbray and Father

Moran). In 2007, Southern Nevadans celebrated the 50th
Anniversary of the community’s most enduring charity gala.



Senator Richard Bryan
and his wife,Bonnie,
with guests.

from customers. Walter Winchell, one of the most influential
and controversial radio personalities of the time, presented the
hospital a check for $10,000 from the Damon Runyan Fund,
which he founded in honor of the accomplished writer and
journalist. The hospital received tens of thousands more from
the fund over the course of a number of years via a golf
tournament attended by the likes of Bob Hope and

Bing Crosby. With capital mounting from the community and
philanthropic organizations, Mother Gerald Barry loaned
Rose de Lima $100,000 and left the door open for the Sisters
to borrow another $100,000 if needed for the building fund.
The hospital also received a $450,000 federal grant toward
the $1 million addition.

Probably the most notable “ask” Sister Felicia would herself
make was to Al Freeman, a publicist for the Sand’s Hotel.
She asked for his aid in coming up with creative strategies for
fundraising. It was not until some time later, when he was
confined to the hospital with chest trouble, that he had a
“stroke of genius.” He suggested that the Sisters market and
sell the heavenly bread that Sister Angelita made for patients.
After being discharged from the hospital, Mr. Freeman and
(then attorney, later judge) John Mowbray gave rise to the
Angel Bread Foundation. The incredible success of Angel
Bread is one of St. Rose’s most cherished stories.

67

-/
O
Or
O

1
wi
~
&)
~i
(@
&




SISTER ANGELITA, OP

“When she got the recipe right,
Angelita was just thrilled spitless”
— Sister Felicia

The Angel Bread story started quite unexpectedly, when
Sister Felicia asked Al Freeman, a publicist for the Las
Vegas Sands and a patient, for ideas on how to raise
funds to expand Rose de Lima. At first Freeman, who was
unhappy with the hospital food, was starved for ideas.

That changed when he tasted some lightly toasted and
buttered bread made by Sister Angelita. He said,

“Oh, Angel. You have a gold mine right here.

Put this bread on the market and you'll make money.”
Freeman felt the idea was divine intervention.

Sister Felicia found it depressing. After all, how would the
Sisters, already overwhelmed in their ministry of caring,
find the time and resources to make and market bread?

In the weeks following Mr. Freeman’s hospital discharge,
he returned to Rose de Lima with local and national
bakery representatives who carefully watched how
Sister Angelita made her golden loaves of brown bread.
Soon bakeries were making Angel Bread and returning a
share of the proceeds to Rose de Lima.

News articles about Angel Bread ran in papers from
Henderson to the Twin Cities. A children's book about
Sister Angelita’s bread baking and reflections have also
been written to pay homage to her heavenly bread.



As poignant as the telling of the

Angel Bread story is, Sister Angelita finds

humor in the untold account of her efforts to improve
upon the hospital’s bread.

“While | was working on it, the administrator (Sister
Carolyn) came in one day and announced, ‘You don't
have to bake bread.’ | responded, ‘Oh, but | like to.”

| thought she was telling me it wasn’t necessary to take
on that additional responsibility. It turns out what she
really meant was the bread wasn’t good. | missed it. | still
laugh about that.”

Sister Angelita continued to refine her recipe and it not
only greatly improved, it gave rise to one of St. Rose's
favorite stories.
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Dining options in hospitals aren’t typically anything to brag
about, but through the years, the nutrition services department
has been staffed with superb cooks who steadfastly believe
in food'’s ability to comfort and heal. Like Sister Angelita,
they truly care about the well-being of patients, so practically
everything served is homemade. More recently, in its second
annual Las Vegas 100, Las Vegas Life magazine ranked St. Rose’s
Siena Campus cafeteria number 45 in its “Very Best of the
City” alongside popular fine dining establishments.
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On April 4, 1958, ground was broken on the three-story
patient tower which would house a new emergency room,
surgical suites, obstetrics unit and additional beds to better
accommodate the community’s growth. Bishop Robert Dwyer
blessed the spot marked by four stones, then dug the first
shovelful and blessed everybody in a sizable audience that
included Henderson’s Mayor William Byrne and Senator Alan
Bible. Also present was the building contractor — none other
than the generous J. A. Tiberti, the friend Sister Felicia met
over dinner at the Foley’s home.

By the end of June, fifty-five three-story high concrete
columns were erected, and on November 24, the roof of the
new hospital addition was raised. As Rose de Lima expanded,
a new hospital opened its doors in Las Vegas. On December
20, 1958, several Adrian Dominican Sisters attended an open
house for the new, for-profit Sunrise Hospital, financed in part
by the infamous Moe Dalitz.

It was eleven months later, October 25, 1960, when the first
bed was moved into the new wing. Notations in the annals
that week state: “Many friends came to the assistance of the
Sisters in moving furniture and beds into the new wing.
[We] had an open house Friday and Saturday. At least 1,000
people visited.”
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Missing from the crowd were Sister Felicia and Sister Angelita.
In keeping with Dominican culture, their ministries were
changed after two six-year terms at Rose de Lima. Sister Helen
Margaret McGinley had since been appointed as the third
administrator of the hospital.

The first patients were moved on October 28, 1960, and the
first two major surgeries were performed. Another expansion,
a twenty-bed neuropsychiatric unit, would follow in March
1962. It was the first private hospital to have a contract with
the State Mental Health Services. Annals state that “Surgeries
[are] on the increase. Five and ten every day. Patients are
increasing also, and the first and third floors are filled most
of the time.”

Time changes and roads turn, however. Healthcare was rapidly
changing in America. The price of hospital care, which had
doubled in the 1950s, left many people outside the workplace
— especially the elderly — hard pressed to afford insurance in
the 1960s. President Lyndon Johnson would address this crisis
by signing Medicare and Medicaid into law as a pillar of his
“Great Society.” Significant concerns about a “doctor shortage”
arose and for-profit hospitals brought a new, competitive
element to patient care. These national issues were reflected
in the local healthcare landscape.
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ROUGH ROADS AHEAD

Will Rose de Lima to Move?
Collaborating with the State

25th Anniversary
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Las Vegas continued to grow during the 1960s. So did its
number of hospitals which, combined with increased traffic,
seemed to make the road to Rose de Lima grow longer. It was
still just a thirteen-mile drive on Boulder Highway, but that
distance became too time consuming for many physicians
who had previously provided care at the Henderson hospital.

Father Caesar Cavilgia, the assistant pastor of St. Anne's
Parish, served as a chaplain at Sunrise Hospital, which
was located just south of the church. He genuinely

respected the Sisters and their mission, so he
strongly encouraged physicians to continue making
rounds at Rose de Lima.

“There was no doubt that the spirit and quality of
care was excellent at Rose de Lima, but convenience
had become a factor in where physicians sent their
patients,” said Father Cavilgia. “/ talked to the physicians,
but both Sunrise and Southern Nevada Memorial
Hospital were closer to their offices and homes.”

Morry Zenoff, a weekly columnist for the Henderson
Home News, chastised Las Vegas doctors who were not
willing to make the trip to Rose de Lima because, as a
result, their Henderson patients went where they directed
them - to Las Vegas.
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Such circumstances drove the hospital, which had always
struggled to keep abreast of its bills, deep into the red. On
Tuesday, March 12, 1963, that red ink spilled onto the front
page of the Las Vegas Sun newspaper. The headline, set in big
red letters read, “Rose de Lima Hospital May Move to Las Vegas”
followed by a subhead that read “Henderson’s lil Fail to Use
Facility.” The article stated that “unless Henderson residents
increase their patronage of Rose de Lima Hospital within the
next month, the new three-story section of the facility will be
moved to Las Vegas, Sister Helen Margaret, administrator of
the Catholic facility, warned yesterday.”

The hospital’s payroll at that time totaled $37,000 a month and it
was operating at a loss with $137,000 in current expenses due. Rose
de Lima also owed a balance of $585,000 from the funds borrowed
to build the new seventy-six bed unit completed in November 1960.

Sister Helen Margaret felt that desperate times called for
desperate measures. She consulted one of the most recognized
engineers in the nation and was assured that the new hospital
tower could be moved to Las Vegas in sections. That news
struck a chord with many people. Wealthy Las Vegans offered
to donate the land and to underwrite the cost of moving the
hospital as a means of reducing overcrowding at Sunrise
Hospital. Southern Nevada Memorial Hospital considered the
logistics of sending its overflow of patients out to Rose de Lima.
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The Las Vegas Sun article had the biggest impact on the residents
of Henderson, however. According to a small follow up article,
the hospital's occupancy rates rose when residents realized
that they might lose a portion of the hospital built specifically
to care for them. Six months later, Rose de Lima‘s census hit a
new high with ninety-five patients and eight babies.

In September 1964, Parry Thomas (then vice president of
Nevada State Bank) met with Sister Helen Margaret to offer
her the “reasonable sale” of Sunrise Hospital. He stated that
the hospital’s owner, Moe Dalitz, needed to sell the hospital
because of pressure put on him from Cleveland.

The Sisters declined to purchase the hospital, but plans to
expand Sunrise went forth, and on February 14, 1965, Sister
Margaret and other Adrian Dominicans attended the opening
of Sunrise’s new five-story tower.
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Artist Salvatore Costello donates his painting of Saint Rose de Lima
to the hospital. Costello was hospitalized for an emergency kidney
operation and vowed that on his recovery he would repay the
kindness administered by the doctors and Sisters of the hospital.
According to the artist, Dr. Jack Hirsh, Dr. Karl Hazeltine and

Sister Helen Margaret were greatly responsible for his recovery.

A Christmas party was held for Rose de Lima’s ninety-nine auxiliary
members. Comedian Shecky Green came as Santa Claus to entertain
the auxiliary and visit patients.

)

Through the Sloan-Kettering Foundation, the National Institute
offered Sister Helen Margaret a three-year course in order to obtain

her Doctorate in Hospital Administration.

All of the Sisters were given special seats in the convention center

to hear the president of the United States, Lyndon Baines Johnson,
campaign. The Sisters were the guests of Senator Howard Cannon,
also a campaigner. When the president spotted the Sisters in white in
the front seats, he approached the edge of the stage to shake hands

with them.




That summer, after six years of service as the administrator of
St. Rose, Sister Helen Margaret received her reassignment.

A newspaper column called “The Party Line" stated:
“Southern Nevada will lose a beloved and valuable citizen
when, on August 1, Sister Helen Margaret, administrator of
Rose de Lima Hospital, leaves to become the nursing supervisor
at the Dominican Hospital in Santa Cruz, California. When the
Sister assumed her current duties six years ago, Rose de Lima
was a sixty-two bed hospital. It now has a capacity of 140 beds.
Those in the hospital field are sorry to see her go, not only
because they are fond of her and admire her ability, but also
because they will be minus a colleague whose contributions
to the community have been outstanding.”

Many tears fell at the farewell tea the auxiliary orchestrated.
The women decorated the event with a “shipboard” theme
complete with portholes. Sister Helen Margaret wished Rose
de Lima Hospital and its new administrator, Sister Georganne
Duggan, well and prayed that they would find smooth sailing
in the months and years ahead.
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GEORGANNE
DUGGAN, OP

Administrator, 1965-1978

Sister Georganne Duggan served as the administrator of Rose de Lima for
thirteen years — maybe its toughest years. Annals kept during her years at the
hospital indicate that in addition to managing Rose de Lima, she routinely
traveled from one end of the state to the other and across the region for
hospital and medical association meetings. On November 1, 1968, Sister
Georganne attended the Nevada Hospital Convention in Reno where she
was installed as president of the Nevada Hospital Association.

Like Sister Georganne, Sister Brigid, Sister Dolores Dolan and others were called

to take on more and more leadership roles within the hospital and the medical
community as healthcare became more complex. At times, such duties took them
away from the patient care setting. Yet, the quality of care remained consistently
high because Rose de Lima’s staff grew not only in terms of numbers, but also in
terms of their understanding, ability and eagerness to live out the vision and values
of the Adrian Dominicans.



Sister Georganne arrived via Western
Airlines on August 15, 1965. She was
warmly welcomed and became
deeply respected by all who knew
her. One of her greatest admirers,
Selma Bartlett, said: “Sister
Georganne was an absolute joy
to be around. She was very
funny but could also be
equally serious. She had an
incredible ability to listen
and to assess people and
situations in seconds. She
was good with the public,
the physicians and the
employees.”

Sister Georganne had to make

many tough decisions to keep

the front doors of the hospital
open. In 1966, that meant locking
the doors to the hospital’s third floor

and consolidating patient services

onto lower floors. Those doors

remained locked for more than two years.
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Father Theodoore VanSkee said he would serve as a
chaplain at Rose de Lima Hospital as long as the Sisters
would have him. At the time, he had faithfully ministered
to the hospital’s patients for seventeen years.

SISTER VINCENT
MAUREEN “DOLORES”
LAN, OP
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A former chief medical technologist
at Rose de Lima, Sister Dolores also
served on the advisory committee of
the Health Manpower Committee
representing the Nevada Society of
Medical Technologists. Today she is
a volunteer for St. Rose’s Positive
Impact on Reading program.




RITA MAESTAS

Rita Maestas, a maternal child
care nurse mentored by the
Sisters, has worked for St. Rose
for fifty years. She is routinely
stopped in grocery stores by
women who tell her that she not
only delivered them but their
children and their grandchildren.

She also faced implementing Medicare. While Medicare
delivered on its promise to provide healthcare to more than
18 million Americans over the age of sixty-five, it also created
costly changes for hospitals. Jack Staggs, the administrator of
Southern Nevada Memorial Hospital, told reporters that the
program required hospitals to break down patient’s room
charges into specific categories. “We have to show how much
the janitors receive of the $44 per day, how much the laundry
workers, nurses, plumbers, kitchen help and everyone else is
getting, ” said Staggs. “This is the same reason [all] hospitals
are affected [by the] raise in the same manner as we are.”

He said that such changes required hospitals to revamp pay
rates so that their staff members were paid comparably to
employees doing the same job in other industries. “\We can‘t
expect our help to work for less than people in comparable
positions within the city and county,” said Staggs. Thus, hospital
payrolls went up and the costs were passed on to patients.

Staggs called Medicare cost breakdowns “part of a nationwide
revolution” that would bring many hospitals into the twentieth
century as far as accounting and billing practices were
concerned. He realized, however, that the changes could be
difficult for charitable hospitals that often wrote off patient
bills. Undoubtedly, he had Rose de Lima Hospital in mind.
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Rose de Lima’s payroll had jumped from less than $40,000 a
month in the early 1960s to $67,000 a month in the
1967-1968 fiscal year. Projections indicated that it would rise by
another $20,000 over the course of the following year or two.
Catholic hospitals across the nation — like Rose de Lima —
found that without a margin, there could be no mission.
They, too, were forced to increase the cost of patient services.

The hospital’s census averaged just 45.4 percent that following
year. The hospital’s prognosis was dismal, but the power of
prayer, innovative collaboration and active response to unmet
community needs continued to provide much needed life support.

The hospital’s cancer treatment center was expanded with the
help of the Damon Runyan Fund and a new physio therapy
unit, fully equipped to handle inpatients and outpatients, was
opened. The Sisters collaborated with the State Mental Health
Services to open a mental health service facility in Southern
Nevada. Their goal was to develop something that offered
more than the temporary holding facility the state had in
Northern Nevada. In describing the new facility, an R-J reporter
wrote that “it was a long way from the gruesome scene in
Snake Pit,” a movie starring Olivia De Havilland which depicted
the often shocking confines that the mentally ill endured.
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She also stated that “in this enlightened age of concern for
humanitarian treatment of mental problems, Rose de Lima
goes a step further. . . kindness, patience and lots of
understanding are doled out generously with the medication
and advice at Rose de Lima Hospital's neuro-psychiatric wing.”
The unit, under the guidance of Sister Marie Brigid, could
accommodate twenty patients in a home-like setting.

The opening of the mental health facility would be followed
by the opening of an intensive care and coronary unit in
August 1968. It was funded with the help of an $18,500
donation by BMI. The need for the unit became tragically
apparent when three Henderson industrial workers were
seriously burned in a fire at Stauffer Chemical Company.
Upon presenting the check, BMI President, James Orr, said,
“Since the good Sisters from Adrian, Michigan, took over the
small industrial c